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Frederick Herr, Complainant, pro se;

Irma Schirrmeister, Complainant, pro se; and

Gregory Sopkin, Esq., of the Law Firm of Gorsuch, Kirgis, for Respondent Public Service Company of Colorado.  

I. STATEMENT

Frederick Herr
 and Irma Schirrmeister (collectively, Complainants) filed the captioned complaint against Public Service Company (PSCo, Public Service, company, or Respondent) on July 22, 2002.  In their complaint, Mr. Herr and Ms. Schirrmeister assert that PSCo disconnected, without just cause, electrical service; refused, and refuses, without just cause to reconnect electrical service; continued, and continues, to add monthly charges after the disconnection of electrical service; improperly calculated the amounts due for electricity allegedly used prior to June 29, 2001; and deprived the owner of the property of electrical service, causing financial damages.  

On July 22, 2002, the Commission issued, and served on Respondent, an Order to Satisfy or Answer.  

On that same date the Commission issued its Order Setting Hearing and Notice of Hearing.  The Commission set a hearing date of September 10, 2002.   

Respondent filed a Motion to Dismiss on August 1, 2002.  On August 2, 2002, Respondent filed a Motion for Leave to Withdraw Motion to Dismiss.  Complainants did not respond to the Motion to Withdraw Motion to Dismiss.  That motion is unopposed, states good cause, and will be granted.  

On August 12, 2002, PSCo filed its Answer to Complaint and List of Witnesses and Exhibits.  

On August 20, 2002, PSCo filed an Amended Answer and Supplemental List of Exhibits.  

On September 5, 2002, PSCo filed a Motion to Continue Hearing Date and Request for Waiver of Response Time.  Chief Administrative Law Judge Kirkpatrick denied the motion.  See Decision No. R02-994-I.  

On September 10, 2002, at the time and place scheduled for commencement of the hearing, the undersigned Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) called this case for hearing.  Complainants and Respondent appeared.  

At the hearing Complainants each presented direct and rebuttal testimony and presented no other witnesses.  Respondent presented the testimony of four witnesses.  Exhibits Nos. 1 through 18 and 21 through 39 were marked for identification.  Exhibit Nos. 1, 6, 8, 12 through 15, 17, 21, 23, 25 through 37, and 39 were admitted into evidence.  Exhibit No. 18 was offered but not admitted into evidence.  Exhibit Nos. 2 through 5, 7, 9 through 11, 16, 22, 24, and 38 were not offered into evidence.  

At the conclusion of the hearing the ALJ closed the evidentiary record and took the matter under advisement.  The parties were permitted to file post-hearing statements of position, if they wished to do so.  

On September 20, 2002, Respondent filed its Statement of Position.  On that same date Complainant Herr filed the Complainants’ Hearing Summary.  

On September 27, 2002, Complainant Schirrmeister joined in the Complainants’ Hearing Summary.  See Decision No. R02-1053-I. 

In accordance with § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the undersigned now transmits to the Commission the record in this proceeding along with a written recommended decision.

II. FINDINGS of fact 

Respondent Public Service is a public utility subject to the complaint jurisdiction of this Commission.  

The location at issue is a house and surrounding property located at 222 N. County Road 117, Bennett, Colorado (house or premises).  The premises are also referred to as 222 Peterson Road and 222 Peterson Mile Road, Bennett, Colorado.  

Public Service’s records use all three addresses for the premises.  Use of three different addresses for the same premises made it difficult for PSCo to keep track of information pertaining to these premises.  

In 1997 Frederick Herr decided to build a house at 222 N. County Road 117, intending to build the house for his son, Adrian Herr.  Although he retained Dennis Rylten as the general contractor, Frederick Herr considered his son Adrian to be in charge of the premises and of oversight of the construction.  

On July 28, 1997, Frederick Herr applied to PSCo for a temporary electric service extension to the premises.  The service was requested in the name of Frederick Herr and was for the purpose of having electricity during the house construction.  

On August 8, 1997, Sturgeon Electric (Sturgeon), Public Service’s contractor, completed installation of the requested temporary extension.  The installation consisted of an overhead transformer, a loop from the permanent pole to the temporary pole, and a loop to the meter box on the temporary pole.  On that date the temporary pole and the meter box were connected to PSCo’s distribution system, and electricity was available at the meter box.  

Sturgeon did not install a loop from the meter box on the temporary pole to the house, did not install a meter on the temporary pole, and did not install jumpers
 in lieu of a meter.  The loop and temporary meter were not installed because PSCo would not run electric power to the house until the electrical inspection was done, PSCo received the inspection report, and PSCo verified that the installation met PSCo’s specifications.  

On August 8, 1997, there was no Public Service electric service available at the house.  

On September 16, 1997, Mr. Rylten obtained the necessary building permit to construct a single family residence on the grounds.  Sometime thereafter construction began.
  

Sometime in 1998,
 Mr. Frederick Herr obtained landline telephone service, in his name, at the house.  

In February 1998, Eastern Colorado Utility Company began providing natural gas service to the premises.  Service was applied for, and billed, in the name of J. Frederick Herr.  Through the date of the hearing, natural gas service for the premises was in the name of J. Frederick Herr.  Exhibit No. 12.  

Frederick Herr transferred the premises to Irma Schirrmeister by deed dated August 11, 1998.  The deed was not attested until August 25, 2001, and was not recorded until January 7, 2002.  For purposes of this proceeding, Ms. Schirrmeister became the owner of the premises on August 11, 1998, the date of the deed.
  

As owner of the property, Ms. Schirrmeister had a right of immediate possession as of August 11, 1998.
  She did not exercise that right.  

Construction of the house progressed at an uneven pace.  Lengthy periods of time, at times months, elapsed during which there was no building activity because, to keep the cost down, a stage of the construction would occur only when there was money to pay for that stage.  To varying degrees and on an intermittent basis, Adrian Herr, his friends, and Frederick Herr provided much of the labor for the construction.  As a result of this overall approach to the construction, the final electric meter inspection occurred on March 23, 1998; the rough electrical inspection occurred on March 30, 1998; and the final inspections were not completed until August 12, 1999, the date of the final electrical inspection.  Exhibit No. 25.  The construction for which the building permit was issued was completed by January 25, 2000.  Exhibit No. 14.  Nonetheless, construction work, primarily finishing, continued at the house after that date.  

As late as the end of September 2000, the contractor, Dennis Rylten, was using his own generator to meet the need for electricity (e.g., to operate the electric tools, the gas-fired furnace, the other gas-fired appliances).  

On September 9, 2000, Arnell Jones, a lineman for Public Service, discovered jumpers
 at the meter box, and the absence of a meter, on the temporary pole at the premises.  Mr. Jones observed scorch marks and some melting of the socket in the meter box on the temporary pole.  He saw that the meter seal had been cut.  He saw one 12-12 gauge wire
 going from the meter box on the temporary pole to the meter box on the house.  

Both the identity of the person who placed the jumpers and the date on which the jumpers were placed are unknown.  Similarly, both the identity of the person who ran the wire to the house and the date on which that wire was run are unknown.  

Mr. Jones saw Frederick Herr at the premises on September 9, 2000, but did not speak to him.  Mr. Jones did not see the interior of the house.  Based on the appearance of the exterior of the house, the absence of evidence of construction, and the apparent age of the temporary pole, Mr. Jones estimated that the jumpers had been in place for over 90 days.  He provided no estimate of how much longer than 90 days the jumpers had been in place.  

Although aware that the jumpers and wire to the house meant that power could flow to the premises, Mr. Jones did not measure the current to determine whether electricity was 

flowing to the house.  He did not remove the jumpers, and he did not leave a written notice concerning the possible energy diversion or the need to set a meter.  

Mr. Jones submitted to PSCo a written report, which was entered in the company’s computer system on September 15, 2000.  Reported incidents of suspected energy diversion are investigated in the order in which they are entered into PSCo’s system.   The reported possible energy diversion at the premises was assigned for investigation on November 15, 2000.  

Beginning in January 2001, at the latest, Frederick Herr knew that the electricity used at the house was unmetered.  There is no evidence as to when, if ever, Adrian Herr knew that the electricity used at the house was unmetered.  

Although he had often been at the premises to assist with the construction, Frederick Herr did not reside permanently at the house until February 2001.
  At that time Frederick Herr was the only resident, and finishing work was still occurring.  

By the time pertinent to this docket, the number of Public Service revenue protection investigators had been reduced from six to two.  As a result, the company did not conduct an investigation into the suspected energy diversion at the premises until March 13, 2001, six months after the report of possible energy diversion was filed.  

On March 13, 2001, James Johnson, a revenue protection investigator for PSCo, conducted an on-site investigation of the reported energy diversion at the premises.  Exhibit No. 6 (top half of the page).  On that date Mr. Johnson observed the jumpers, the burned 

condition of the meter box, and one 12-12 gauge wire running on the ground from the temporary pole to the house.  Based on his observations, Mr. Johnson concluded that an unauthorized closed loop
 existed.  During the inspection, Mr. Johnson did not see or speak to anyone; did not measure the current to determine whether electricity was flowing to the house; and did not see the interior of the house.  

The PSCo policy then in effect
 required that, upon discovery of energy diversion, jumpers were to be removed and an energy diversion lock installed.  In this instance, however, Mr. Johnson did not disconnect the electric service at the premises; he left the electric connection as he found it.  

At the conclusion of the on-site inspection, Mr. Johnson left an Energy Diversion Notice, dated March 13, 2001, at the premises.  The notice states that, before it can set a meter, PSCo needs to receive a copy of the electrical inspection.  There is no addressee or customer name on the notice, only the address of the premises.  Exhibit No. 8, page 1.  

On March 15, 2001, Frederick Herr submitted an application for residential electric service at the premises, together with a copy of the final electrical inspection report.  The named applicant is Adrian Herr.  Frederick Herr signed the application “Adrian Herr.”
  

Public Service representatives informed Frederick Herr that a permanent meter would be installed, but it was not.  It is the practice of Public Service to set the permanent meter when a final electrical inspection report is received, provided PSCo’s technical specifications are met.  

On June 29, 2001, as part of the continuing energy diversion investigation, Messrs. Jones and Johnson conducted an on-site inspection of the premises.  On that date the condition of the electric service was unchanged from the condition on previous visits.  Mr. Jones measured the current running to the house; the ampere readings were 5.2 on one leg and 13.3 on the other.
  Exhibit 6 (bottom half of the page).  

During the June inspection, Mr. Johnson had a discussion with Frederick Herr.  Mr. Johnson understood Mr. Herr to say that he was “Adrian Frederick Herr” and that he had resided at the premises for four to five years.
  Although Mr. Herr did not say so explicitly, Mr. Johnson assumed that Mr. Herr had lived at the premises full-time for four or five years.  Mr. Johnson later used Mr. Herr’s statement and the resulting assumption as one basis for his estimation of the amount due for the diverted electricity.  

Although aware that he could do so,
 Mr. Johnson did not enter the house during his investigation.  Mr. Johnson testified that it is his custom and practice, and that of all of PSCo’s revenue protection investigators, not to enter a building during a diversion investigation.
  Mr. Johnson did not see the interior of the house.  He assumed the house was completed and habitable based on its external appearance.  

During this visit, the jumpers were removed; a shut-off plate was installed to prevent the possibility of shock; and the plate was sealed with red tape.  Although this action was not consistent with PSCo’s policy,
 Mr. Johnson thought it sufficient because he saw the energy diversion as failure to get an inspection and not as “absolute theft.”  

At the end of the inspection, Mr. Johnson left an Energy Diversion Notice, which stated that electric service was disconnected; that an account with Public Service needed to be established; and that an electrical inspection report needed to be provided.  There is no addressee or customer identified on the notice; only the address of the house appears.  Exhibit No. 8, page 2.  This notice was left several months after the company had received all the necessary paperwork and had established an account in the name of Adrian Herr.  

Later in the day on June 29, 2001, Public Service personnel installed a meter on the temporary pole.  The crew did not set either the permanent meter on the permanent pole or the meter on the side of the house.  The meter set on June 29, 2001, was the first and only meter installed at the premises.  

Although the meter was installed, Public Service did not string a wire from the meter to the house.  Nonetheless, electrical usage at the house began to be measured on June 29, 2001.  

Prior to July 2001, Adrian Herr lived in California but made trips to Colorado during construction of the house.  He moved to Colorado full-time, and moved into the house, in July 2001.
  In addition, two other individuals moved into the house on a full-time basis between July 1 and 10, 2001.
  

Until September 21, 2001, Adrian Herr was in charge of the construction of the house; took care of paying the bills; and made the decisions regarding construction of the house.  

On September 21, 2001, Adrian Herr was in an accident.  He has not lived at the house since that date.  At the time of the hearing he was, and had been since the accident, incapacitated and hospitalized.  Following the accident, Frederick Herr voluntarily undertook to oversee Adrian Herr’s affairs, including paying bills and settling accounts.  

For the period of July through September 21, 2001, at least four people lived at the house full-time.  For the period September 21, 2001, through November 28, 2001, at least three people lived at the house full-time.  

At the conclusion of his diversion investigation, James Johnson prepared an estimate of the amount of electricity diverted.  As inputs into his estimation, Mr. Johnson used the actual (i.e., metered) electric usage from June 29, 2001, to August 15, 2001; a daily kilowatt-hour (kwh) usage calculated based on the amperage readings taken on June 29, 2001, and on the assumption that whatever appliances were on when the readings were taken would run 24 hours per day, 7 days per week; the length of time he estimated that the energy diversion had existed (i.e., from August 15, 1998,
 to June 29, 2001); and the residential rates for electricity in effect during the August 1998 to June 2001 time period.  Based on these inputs, Mr. Johnson estimated that approximately 69,000 kwh had been diverted and that PSCo was owed $4,558.26 for the diverted electricity.  Exhibit No. 17.  

On September 20, 2001, PSCo sent Adrian Herr a bill for $4,669.50 to recover the current metered charges, the estimated diverted energy charges, and the $75 cost of the diversion investigation.  Exhibit No. 1.
  

On November 28, 2001, Public Service disconnected electric service to the premises for non-payment of the estimated charges.  At the time of the disconnection, all bills for the metered service had been paid and were current.  

On January 7, 2002, the deed was recorded.  Mr. Herr and Ms. Schirrmeister testified that recordation occurred because the house was ready for occupancy.  

On or soon after January 7, 2002, Irma Schirrmeister applied to have electric service at the premises put in her name.  Ms. Schirrmeister has an existing electric service account with Public Service.  She had and has no outstanding balance or unpaid arrearages with Public Service.  Because there was an unpaid balance on Adrian Herr’s account for the unmetered electricity and because Frederick Herr lived at the premises, PSCo refused service to Ms. Schirrmeister.  Public Service based its refusal on a tariff provision which, according to PSCo, permits it, in the case of energy diversion, to refuse to provide service to the customer or any person for the customer’s use until payment is made or a payment schedule is arranged.
  During the hearing the company reiterated its refusal to open an electric service account for the premises in the name of Irma Schirrmeister.  

Ms. Schirrmeister has never lived at the premises; however, she wishes to move into the house as her personal residence.  She cannot do so until electric service is restored to the premises.  Public Service refuses to put the electric service in Ms. Schirrmeister’s name so long as Frederick Herr resides at the house.  

Ms. Schirrmeister is a licensed real estate agent.  In her experience, Public Service has never refused electric service to a new tenant due to arrearages of a previous tenant.  The company does not dispute that, in the normal course, it does not refuse electric service to a new tenant because of arrearages of a previous tenant.  

On March 21, 2002, after discussions with Frederick Herr, James Johnson did a second estimation of the unmetered electric usage.  Mr. Johnson changed one input:  he used the metered electric usage from September 14, 2001, to October 14, 2001, in place of the usage from June 29, 2001, to August 16, 2001.  All other inputs remained the same.  The resulting estimated charges for unmetered electric usage were $2,591.07.  Exhibit No. 17.  

In its bill dated April 2, 2002, based on the second estimation, PSCo credited the first estimated amount (i.e., $4,558.26) to Adrian Herr’s account.  In its bill dated April 24, 2002, PSCo charged Adrian Herr’s account the second estimated amount (i.e., $2,591.07).  Exhibit No. 1.  

On August 21, 2002, Public Service sent to the premises a Residential Notice of Discontinuance addressed to Adrian Herr.  As relevant here, in that notice PSCo informed Adrian Herr that payment for an arrearage of $2,682.21 “must be received at one of our pay agents before 8/29/02 or your utility service may be discontinued.”  Exhibit No. 36.  Public Service sent this notice nine months after it disconnected electric service to the premises.  This is the only written notice of discontinuance for failure to pay the estimated charges in the record.
  

As of the date of the hearing, Frederick Herr lives full-time at the house.  There is no electricity except that provided by a generator and a battery.  

Frederick Herr will move from the premises when Ms. Schirrmeister moves in.
  Ms. Schirrmeister has told the company that Frederick Herr will move out, but Public Service has not changed its position and refuses to put service at the premises in her name.  

After the disconnection, Public Service continued to charge the Adrian Herr account with a monthly service charge.  When Frederick Herr protested these charges, Public Service credited the Adrian Herr account for those amounts.  Exhibit No. 39.  There is no dispute concerning these charges.  

The amount at issue is comprised of the $2,591.07 estimated charge for the unmetered service and the $75 diversion investigation charge.  

PSCo’s customer itemization records (Exhibit Nos. 1 and 39) show Adrian Herr as the customer of record for the premises.  Monthly bills (Exhibit Nos. 35 and 37) and the mailed Discontinuance Notice (Exhibit No. 36) were addressed to Adrian Herr.  At no time prior to the disconnection did Public Service consider either Frederick Herr or Irma Schirrmeister to be the customer at the premises.  

Frederick Herr acknowledged that there was some usage of PSCo electricity before the meter was set.  He estimated there was some usage for the period November 2000 through June 29, 2001 (when the meter was set) and that the usage amounted to approximately $5 to $10 per month.  He is willing to pay for the unmetered usage from November 2000 through June 29, 2001, provided Public Service uses reasonable inputs in its calculations.  He contests as unreasonable the inputs used in the company’s estimations.  

At one time Frederick Herr resided at 10215 Glennon Drive in Lakewood, Colorado.  According to the testimony of Jane Barlow, Mr. Herr had an account in his name for PSCo electric service at that address and that account has an unpaid balance for a portion of 1997 and a portion of 1998.  As a result, PSCo would not have provided electric service in the name of Frederick Herr at the premises until the arrearages were resolved.
  Mr. Herr testified that he was unaware of this balance; that he sold that house in December 1997; that in 1995 he had moved to, and permanently resided in, Granby, Colorado; and that he disputed the charges.  The company provided no evidence that it had attempted to collect the arrearages from Frederick Herr or that he was aware of these arrearages.  

III. discussion  

As pertinent here, § 40-3-103, C.R.S., requires a public utility, such as Public Service, to file with the Commission “all rules, regulations, … which in any manner affect or relate to … classifications, or service[.]”  Pursuant to this provision, Public Service has in force and filed with the Commission numerous tariff sheets containing its rules and regulations governing residential service.  These tariffs govern the company’s behavior and are to be strictly enforced against Public Service, their author.  

There are several Public Service electric tariffs at issue in this docket.  In critical areas Public Service has not proved that it followed the requirements of the applicable and governing tariff.  

Complainants assert that, without justification, the company refused, and continues to refuse, to connect service at the premises in the name of Irma Schirrmeister or of Frederick Herr.  Public Service argues that it has not put service in either name because Frederick Herr, who is either the customer or the beneficiary of electric service, has refused to pay any of the charges for the diverted electricity; that it cannot put service in either name so long as the beneficiary of the unmetered service (i.e., Frederick Herr) resides at the house; and that its actions accord with its tariffs.  The ALJ finds that Public Service has not complied with its tariffs and that the refusal, on the basis of the unpaid bill for the diverted electricity, to put service in Ms. Schirrmeister’s name or in Frederick Herr’s name is unjustified and contrary to tariff.  

Colo. PUC No. 7 Electric, Sheet R9 governs benefit of service.  It specifies the persons from whom money can be sought and the process the company must follow to collect.  It states, in pertinent part (emphasis supplied):  

[U]se of electric service constitutes an agreement under which the user receives electric service and agrees to pay the Company therefore in accordance with the applicable rate schedules, rules and regulations.  Each person of full legal age who resides at the premises to which service is delivered shall be deemed to receive benefit of service supplied and shall be liable to the Company for payment, subject to conditions hereinafter stated, whether or not service is listed in his/her name.  The principal obligor for payment is the applicant or user in whose name service with the Company is listed.  The Company is obligated to pursue reasonable and timely efforts to effect payment by or collections from applicant or user of record.  In the event such efforts are unavailing, and it is necessary for the Company to effect payment by or collection from a user who is not the applicant or user of record …, the Company shall give prior written notice to said user that he/she may factually dispute the applicability of the benefit of service rule stated in this paragraph to his/her specific situation by making written complaint to the Public Utilities Commission.    

As to PSCo’s assertion that Frederick Herr is the “real” customer at the premises, the argument fails because PSCo did not meet its burden of proof.  Public Service provided evidence that Frederick Herr has a delinquent account from 1997 through 1998.  From this the company surmised, and asked the ALJ to find, that Frederick Herr was aware of the delinquency; that he knew that he could not obtain electric service until the delinquent account was paid; and that, as a result, he put electric service at the house in his son’s name to obtain service while avoiding paying the delinquent account.  Public Service contends that this behavior is subterfuge 

under the relevant tariff provision
 and supports its decision not to transfer the account to another person so long as Mr. Herr resides at the house.
  

Mr. Herr denied knowing about the delinquency and contested PSCo’s assertions.  Mr. Herr testified that his son Adrian asked him to apply for service in Adrian’s name because Adrian was living in California at the time.
  

Public Service’s argument fails because its only evidence is a past due account.  From this past due account PSCo draws a series of questionable inferences and conclusions.  The evidence concerning Mr. Herr’s awareness of the delinquent account at the time he submitted the application for service is in equipoise or slightly tilted in Mr. Herr’s favor.  As the proponent of the proposition, PSCo bears the burden of proof.  The company did not establish by a preponderance of the evidence that, at the time the application for service was submitted, Frederick Herr knew of the past due account and knew that he could not obtain service because he had a delinquent account.  These are the critical points underlying the company’s argument.  Because it did not establish these facts, PSCo did not prove that Frederick Herr is its customer, even assuming that PSCo could determine after-the-fact that the person in whose name service has been rendered is not the “real” customer.
  

Public Service asserts that, if he is not a customer, Frederick Herr is a benefited individual who is responsible for the diverted electricity for the period August 15, 1998, through June 29, 2001.  The argument is unavailing.  

There are three prerequisites to the company’s seeking payment for electric service from a person other than the named customer:  first, the person must benefit (i.e., reside at the premises to which service is delivered) from the service; second, the company must have attempted to obtain payment from the named customer; and, third, the company must have given the benefited individual prior written notice.  See Colo. PUC No. 7 Electric, Sheet R9.  Public Service did not prove that it met the prerequisites.  

There is no evidence that PSCo gave Frederick Herr, the putative benefited individual, the required prior specified written notice.
  No such notice is in the record.  There was no testimony about such a notice.  Every written notice in evidence is addressed to Adrian Herr or has no specified addressee.  None of the written notices in the record contain the required information about making a written complaint to the Commission.  See, e.g., Exhibit Nos. 8 and 36.  In the absence of the prior written notice mandated by the tariff, Public Service cannot attempt to collect from Frederick Herr payment for the diverted electricity.  As Frederick Herr’s refusal to pay is the basis for PSCo’s refusal to connect service at the house so long as Frederick Herr resides there, PSCo’s refusal is not justified.
  

Public Service’s refusal to connect service at the premises so long as Frederick Herr resides there is unsupported by the company’s tariff.  The refusal is also contrary to the PSCo policy that service will not be denied to a new tenant on the basis of a delinquency by a past tenant (in this case, Adrian Herr).  This suffices to support a finding in favor of Complainants on the issues of disconnection and refusal to connect and to dispose of this case.  

The parties raised additional issues, however.  To provide a complete discussion, the ALJ addresses the other arguments and contentions.  

Complainants assert that the disconnection on November 28, 2001, was unjustified because no money was owed for the metered electric service from June 29, 2001, through November 28, 2001.  They assert, and the company agrees, that electric service was disconnected due to refusal to pay the estimated bills for diverted energy.  The company argues, however, that Frederick Herr was the real customer
 and that service could not be provided until the charges for the diverted energy were paid.  

Public Service cites Colo. PUC No. 7 Electric, Sheet R31 as controlling.  That tariff states, in pertinent part (emphasis supplied):  

If [electric] service has been discontinued for failure to comply with any of the Company’s rules and regulations and a diversion of electric energy has been confirmed subsequent to discontinuance, the Company will not render service to the customer, or to any other person for customer’s use, until:  (1) the Customer has paid [or made arrangements to pay] all charges relating to the diversion of electric energy and for all past due bills for service rendered at the same location; and (2) the Company confirms that the cause for the discontinuance of electric service, if other than for non-payment, has been cured.  

The cited tariff does not apply in the circumstances of this case.  The company’s discovery of energy diversion preceded, indeed led to, the disconnection.  The tariff language only pertains when the discovery of energy diversion is subsequent to the disconnection.  In addition, as found supra, Frederick Herr was not the customer.  The tariff states that there will be no service to the customer or to a person for the customer’s use until payment or payment arrangements are made.  In this case, because Frederick Herr is not PSCo’s customer, the payment condition is not relevant.  As a result, the tariff does not support the discontinuance of service at the house on November 28, 2001.  The discontinuance of service and the refusal to connect service at the premises, insofar as they are based on Colo. PUC No. 7 Electric, Sheet R31, are not justified.  

Complainants also challenge the estimation which resulted in a final bill of $2,591.07 for the diverted electricity, the time period covered by the estimation, and the concept that only Frederick Herr benefited from the use of the diverted energy.  Public Service makes several arguments, each of which is discussed below.  

The company argues that it complied with the tariff and with its Closed Loops Policy.
  The evidence does not support this assertion.  

Colo. PUC No. 7 Electric, Sheets R30-R32 set out the rules governing diversion of electric energy.  They state, as pertinent to this discussion (emphasis supplied):  

The existence of … any tampering of interfering with wires, devices, or equipment connected to Company’s distribution system or the damage to, alteration, or obstruction to any meter (including the breaking of meter seals) which will permit or make possible the use of electric energy without its proper registration on Company’s meter shall constitute prima facie evidence of diversion of electric energy by the customer in whose name service is being rendered, or by the person benefiting from the use of such diverted electric energy.  …  

In such instances, the Company will, in any reasonable manner, compute the amount of diverted electric energy and shall have the right to enter customer’s premises and make an actual count of all electric energy consuming devices to aid in such computation.  Where the Company is unable to make such count, the computation will be based upon any other available information, or estimated.  Such computation or estimation shall be made for the period beginning with the date on which customer began using electric energy at the location where the diversion occurred, unless evidence proves the diversion commenced at a later date, and ending with the date on which such diversion ceased.  Bills for electric energy diverted, based upon the aforesaid computation or, where necessary, upon estimation, under the applicable rate in effect during the period of diversion, plus the cost of investigating and confirming such diversion, … shall be due and payable in accordance with the Company’s tariffs.  

PSCo admits that it did not enter, or make an attempt to enter, the house to conduct its energy diversion investigation.
  As the quoted tariff language makes clear, entry or attempted entry is a necessary precondition to the use of an estimate (“where the company is unable to make such count,” Public Service may resort to an estimate).  Because no attempt was made to enter the house to count the appliances in use, as the tariff requires,
 Public Service cannot rely on an estimation of electrical usage.  PSCo offered only an estimate, which must be rejected for failure to comply with the tariff.  The company presented no other evidence of its quantification of unmetered energy use.
  

Public Service argues that there was prima facie evidence of diversion, from August 15, 1998, to June 29, 2001, by Frederick Herr because he was “the person benefiting from the use of such diverted energy.”  Colo. PUC No. 7 Electric, Sheet R31.  This argument is not supported by the tariff language.  The definition of benefit of service is found in Colo. PUC No. 7 Electric, Sheet R9 (quoted supra) and states that a person receiving the benefit of service is the customer or a person residing at the service location.  In this case, Frederick Herr is not the customer and did not begin residing at the house until February 2001.  Thus, according to the relevant tariff, he could not have been a person benefiting from the electric service until February 2001 at the earliest.  

In addition, because it believes that Frederick Herr is the person benefiting from the use of the diverted energy, PSCo argues that, as a benefited person, Frederick Herr is financially responsible and must pay for the diverted electricity.  Public Service’s argument blurs the distinction between computation or estimation of the amount of energy diverted and collection of the monies allegedly owed for the diversion.  The energy diversion tariff governs the computation or estimation, not the collection of monies allegedly owed.  Colo. PUC No. 7 Electric, Sheet R31 governs collection.  As discussed above, the company did not provide the tariff-required written notice to Frederick Herr.  Thus, even if it were correct that Frederick Herr benefited from the diverted electrical service, Public Service cannot hold him financially responsible because it has not given him the required notice.  

Further, the company argues that Frederick Herr was responsible for obtaining the temporary electrical meter, which required him to obtain an electrical inspection and to submit it to PSCo, and that he failed to do so for three and one-half years (i.e., from August 1997, when Sturgeon installed the temporary extension, to March 2001, when the application for service was made).  This presupposes that Frederick Herr was the customer, or was otherwise responsible for obtaining electrical service for construction at the premises, during this entire period.  PSCo did not establish either proposition.
  

Public Service argues that the tariff prohibits Complainants from establishing that the actual energy use was lower than the estimated use.  PSCo asserts that the only issue is the starting date of the energy diversion and that this is fair because PSCo “does not have access to information to determine actual energy usage during the unmetered period.”  PSCo’s Statement of Position at 8.  The company’s reading of the tariff is incorrect.  First, the tariff language does not contain the explicit restriction suggested by PSCo.  Second, the tariff references prima facie evidence of diversion.  Prima facie evidence is rebuttable, which means that evidence may be presented to disprove or to counter the presumption of diversion.  A critical part of diversion is the amount of energy diverted, and under the tariff Complainants may present evidence concerning this point.  Third, the company has ample authority to enter premises to determine the actual amount of energy being diverted, at least as of the date(s) of inspection.  See Colo. PUC No. 7 Electric, Sheets R30-R32.  If PSCo avails itself of this authority, it should have sufficient information to address any testimony offered on the amount of electric energy diverted.  

Public Service argues that it used a reasonable method for estimating the diverted use.  Had Public Service established that it followed the tariff-defined procedure so that it could estimate the amount of diverted electricity, the record shows, and the ALJ finds, that the method used was reasonable.
  

Public Service asserts that it used reasonable inputs in its estimation.
  The ALJ disagrees and, for the reasons discussed below, finds some of the inputs to be unreasonable.  

Public Service estimates that the diversion began on August 15, 1998.  Complainants claim that the diversion began no earlier than November 2000.  Based on the evidence, the first electric power from PSCo was used at the premises no earlier than October 1, 2000.  The calculation of any charges due for the diversion must begin from this date.  

In reaching this decision, the ALJ considered a number of factors.  First, there is no unequivocal evidence of usage until the meter readings on June 29, 2001.  Second, the Johnson testimony that the gas consumption records for the house for the period February 1998 to June 29, 2001, are consistent with a full-time resident is unpersuasive.  Mr. Herr testified that, at least through September 2000, electric power to operate the gas-fired appliances and the gas-fired furnace was provided by an on-site generator.  In addition, Mr. Herr testified that no one was living at the premises full-time until February 2001.  Because no employee of Public Service 

ever entered the premises,
 the company could offer, and did offer, no refutation of this testimony.  The ALJ finds the testimony of Mr. Herr credible on this point.  Third, Mr. Jones testified that the damage to the meter box, the apparent age of the temporary pole, and the condition of the exterior of the house (as he saw them on September 9, 2000) indicated that the jumpers had been in place for at least 90 days.  The ALJ is not persuaded by this testimony because Mr. Jones did not explain how these factors were related to, or could be used to determine, how long the jumpers had been in place.  Thus, the starting date of September 15, 1998, is an unreasonable input into the estimation.  

The company estimated a rate of energy diversion based on the June 29, 2001, amperage readings and an assumption that these readings are constant 7 days a week, 24 hours a day.  The assumption that the amperage readings would be constant is contrary to the evidence.  As found above, electric appliances which consume 11-15 amperes are, for example, toasters, irons, microwave ovens, and hair dryers.  These appliances are not used 24 hours per day, 7 days per week.  PSCo’s estimated rate of energy diversion, calculated by relying on this assumption, is an unreasonable input.  

PSCo’s estimate relied on the metered usage during the period September 14, 2001, through October 14, 2001.  The evidence establishes that three people were living full-time in the house during that time period; that no one lived at the premises full-time until February 2001; and that, from February 2001 through July 2001, only Frederick Herr lived at the house full-time.  The metered usage from September 14, 2001, through October 14, 2001, was demonstrably higher than the usage likely to have occurred during the unmetered period.  It is, thus, an unreasonable input into the estimation.  

To sustain its burden of proof, Public Service must establish that the inputs into its estimated charges are reasonable.  Based on the foregoing, the ALJ finds that Public Service did not meet its burden of proof on the reasonableness of its proposed estimated charges.
  

The complaint asks the Commission to find that Ms. Schirrmeister, the owner of the premises, suffered financial harm and damages as a result of PSCo’s refusal to put electric service in her name.  The requested determinations are matters for the civil courts, not the Commission.  The Commission will not make the requested determinations, and this portion of the complaint will be denied.  

Complainants also ask the Commission to “suggest that Public Service to enter into negotiations [with them] concerning the claim for financial damages.”  Complainants’ Hearing Summation at 5.  This request will be denied.  

IV. conclusions  

Public Service’s discontinuance of service to the premises neither conformed to its tariffs nor was justified.  

Public Service did not follow the applicable tariff when it estimated the amount of electric energy allegedly diverted at the premises.  

Public Service should be ordered immediately to restore electric power to the premises.  

Public Service’s refusal to consider the application of Irma Schirrmeister for electric service at the house was neither reasonable nor justified.  

Public Service’s refusal to entertain an application for electric service at the house so long as Frederick Herr resides there or so long as the amount allegedly due for the unmetered service is unpaid was neither reasonable nor justified.  

Public Service should be ordered to process, according to its tariffs, an application for service at the premises without regard to the unmetered service.  

Public Service is not complying with the requirements of Colo. PUC No. 7 Electric, Sheet R31 in that its investigators are not entering customers’ premises and making an actual count of all electricity-consuming devices as part of PSCo’s computation of the amount of diverted electric energy.  

Public Service should be ordered to comply with the requirements of Colo. PUC No. 7 Electric, Sheet R31 in its energy diversion investigations.  

The portion of the complaint which addresses the monthly service charges added to the account of Adrian Herr after November 28, 2001, should be denied as moot.  

The portion of the complaint which addresses damages should be denied.  The request that the Commission suggest that Public Service enter into negotiations with Complainants should be denied.  

V. ORDER

A. The Commission Orders That:


1.
The Complaint filed by Frederick Herr and Irma Schirrmeister is granted, in part, and denied, in part, consistent with the discussion above.  


2.
Public Service Company of Colorado shall immediately restore electric service to the premises located at 222 Peterson Road, Bennett, Colorado.  


3.
Within ten days of the effective date of this Decision, Public Service Company of Colorado shall take all steps required to install facilities necessary for permanent electric service at the premises located at 222 Peterson Road, Bennett, Colorado.  


4.
Within ten days of the effective date of this Decision, Public Service Company of Colorado shall issue a bill which credits to the account of Adrian Herr all amounts allegedly due for the unmetered electric service and for the energy diversion investigation.  


5.
Upon application by any person, Public Service Company of Colorado shall process, according to its tariffs, the application for service at the premises located at 222 Peterson Road, Bennett, Colorado.  Public Service Company of Colorado shall not deny service to Irma Schirrmeister, to Frederick Herr, or to any other person on the basis that the estimated bill for electrical service at the premises located at 222 Peterson Road, Bennett, Colorado, has not been paid.  


6.
The Complaint filed by Frederick Herr and by Irma Schirrmeister is denied insofar as it requests that the Commission address the question of possible financial harm or damages to either Complainant.  


7.
The Complaint filed by Frederick Herr and by Irma Schirrmeister is denied as moot insofar as it addresses the monthly service charges added to the account of Adrian Herr after November 28, 2001.  


8.
The request of Frederick Herr and Irma Schirrmeister that the Commission suggest that Public Service Company of Colorado negotiate with Mr. Herr and Ms. Schirrmeister concerning the claim for financial damages is denied.  


9.
The Motion for Leave to Withdraw Motion to Dismiss Complaint filed by Public Service Company of Colorado of August 2, 2002, is granted.  


10.
This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  


11.
As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  


a)
If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.  


b)
If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.  


12.
If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.  

THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO


MANA L. JENNINGS-FADER
________________________________


Administrative Law Judge
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� Mr. Herr’s full name is Jacob Frederick Herr, and he is also known as J. Frederick Herr.  


�  If authorized, jumpers are used until a meter can be set.  


�  The record is not clear as to the starting date of the construction.  


�  The record is not clear as to the starting date of the telephone service.  


�  See §§ 38-35-101(4) (recordation of deed is prima facie evidence of delivery on the date the deed was executed) and 38-35-109(1) (unrecorded deeds are valid against all but a person, without notice of prior rights, who first records), C.R.S.  See also Carmach v. Place, 535 P.2d 197 (Colo. 1975); Brown v. Board of County Commissioners, 720 P.2d 579 (Colo. App. 1985).  There was testimony describing the deed as a quitclaim deed.  Because the pertinent principles apply to quitclaim deeds, see, e.g., § 38-35-109(1), C.R.S., for purposes of this proceeding the ALJ need not, and does not, determine the type of deed under which Ms. Schirrmeister took ownership of the premises.  


�  Mr. Herr and Ms. Schirrmeister testified concerning a contract, executed by them contemporaneously with the deed, which reputedly evidences their intent that there would be a future transfer of the property to Ms. Schirrmeister upon completion of construction of a house and settlement of financial matters between them.  No documentary evidence of this contract was produced.  In addition, and most importantly, the deed references neither the contract nor the intent that there be a future date for possession.  Exhibit No. 15.  Thus, for purposes of this proceeding, the ALJ cannot, and does not, consider the parol evidence concerning the parties’ asserted intent that there be a future transfer.  Section 38-30-120, C.R.S.; Thomas v. Dunnean, 75 Colo. 216, 218-19, 225 P. 253, _____ (1924).  


�  Based on the appearance of the jumpers, Mr. Jones described them as “home-made” and not the jumpers which are PSCo-approved for use by its employees and contractors.  Mr. Herr disputed that the jumpers were “home-made,” claiming that they appeared to be manufactured.  No party produced the jumpers at the hearing.  


�  This is the type of wire used in the interior wiring of houses.  


�  The record is not clear as to the date in February on which he moved into the house.  


�  As pertinent to this proceeding, an unauthorized closed loop exists when there is “delivery of electric service through a metering point without a meter” and without approval from an authorized PSCo employee.  PSCo considers an unauthorized closed loop to be energy diversion.  Exhibit No. 21.  


�  The same PSCo policy was in effect throughout the time relevant to this docket.  


�  As discussed infra, Mr. Herr testified that he submitted the application at the direction of, and with the approval of, his son Adrian.  


�  According to Mr. Herr, based on his personal experience and observations, electrical appliances that use 11-15 amperes are, e.g., toasters, electric irons, microwave ovens, and hair dryers.  Public Service offered no evidence to the contrary.  


�  Mr. Herr denied identifying himself as “Adrian” and denied saying that he had resided at the premises for four to five years.  


�  See Colo. PUC No. 7 Electric, Sheet R31.  


�  Mr. Johnson testified that he did not enter the house because he was uncomfortable due to the relative isolation of the house and the presence of a sign warning against trespassing (Exhibit No. 34).  In view of his testimony that, as a custom and practice, he has never entered a building during an investigation, the ALJ finds unpersuasive his testimony that he did not enter the house due to his discomfort.  


�  As found supra, PSCo policy required installation of an energy diversion lock.  


�  The record is not clear as to the date.  


�  The record is unclear concerning the dates.  


�  According to his testimony, Mr. Johnson chose August 15, 1998, as the beginning date based on Frederick Herr’s statement that he had lived in the house four or five years; the date on which the initial rough-in inspections were done (see Exhibit No. 25); and his opinion that, from its exterior, the house appeared to be completed.  Mr. Johnson acknowledged that it is common practice to complete the exterior of a building before completing the interior.  


�  The bill shows $4,558.26 as a transfer from account no. 8901150981 to account no. 2601136415.  Both accounts are in the name of Adrian Herr.  Jane Barlow, a PSCo Customer Advocate, testified that both accounts were in the name of Adrian Herr because he was the customer of record for the premises and that PSCo created the 8901150981 account solely for the purpose of billing for the non-metered power.  Public Service never issued a bill in the 8901150981 account.  


�  See Colo. PUC No. 7, Sheet R31.  


�  There was testimony concerning a written notice of discontinuance received prior to the November 28, 2001, disconnection.  That notice is not in the record, and the particulars of that notice (e.g., to whom it was addressed, when it was received) are unknown.  


�  Although there was some conflicting testimony on this point, the ALJ finds the testimony of Ms. Schirrmeister on the point to be the most credible.  


�  See Colo. PUC No. 7 Electric, Sheet No. R104.  


�  Colo. PUC No. 7 Electric, Sheet R13 (defining subterfuge).  


�  This argument is puzzling because the tariff states that “billing of a required deposit” is PSCo’s remedy if subterfuge is discovered.  The tariff does not give PSCo the authority to deny service to anyone (at least until there is a refusal to pay the deposit, which is not the case here) or to refuse to transfer service to another person as a remedy for subterfuge.  Yet, this is what PSCo did in this case.  The company’s argument and action find no support in the tariff on subterfuge.  


�  Frederick Herr’s testimony on this point is hearsay because Adrian Herr was unable to testify in this proceeding due to his being incapacitated and hospitalized. While hearsay can constitute substantive evidence in an administrative proceeding, the hearsay must be “sufficiently reliable and trustworthy and [must possess] probative value commonly accepted by reasonable and prudent persons in the conduct of their affairs.”  Industrial Claims Appeals Office v. Flower Stop Marketing Corporation, 782 P.2d 13, 18 (Colo. 1989).  Mr. Herr’s hearsay testimony concerning his son’s request does not meet this standard.  Thus, the ALJ did not rely on Mr. Herr’s hearsay statements in this regard.  


�  The company cited no tariff provision permitting it, unilaterally or otherwise, to make such a determination.  In fact, Colo. PUC No. 7 Electric, Sheet R9, quoted supra, appears to support a contrary position (“The principal obligor for payment is the applicant or user in whose name service with the Company is listed.”), as does Colo. PUC No. 7 Electric, Sheets R30-R31 (“the customer in whose name service is being rendered”).  In addition, the company considered Adrian Herr to be its customer and acted accordingly.  See, e.g., ¶ 67 and footnote 21, supra.  


�  Colo. PUC No. 7 Electric, Sheet R9 requires “prior written notice to said user that he/she may factually dispute the applicability of the benefit of service rule stated in this paragraph to his/her specific situation by making written complaint to the Public Utilities Commission.”  


�  If PSCo had established that Frederick Herr received the required notice, the only period for which he could be responsible as a benefited person is the period during which he resided at the house (i.e., February 2001 through June 29, 2001).  See Colo. PUC No. 7 Electric, Sheet R9.  Thus, PSCo’s attempt to hold Frederick Herr responsible for monies for energy diversion prior to February 2001 is contrary to the applicable tariff.  


�  As discussed above, Frederick Herr is not PSCo’s customer.  


�  See Exhibit 21.  The policy is not necessary for this purpose, and the ALJ did not consider it.  First, it is an internal PSCo document; and there is no evidence that Complainants were aware of the policy or, if aware, were required to comply with it.  Second, the policy must be consistent with the tariff, which is the controlling document; thus, reliance on the policy would be redundant.  Third, to the extent that the policy is inconsistent with the tariff (and in some respects, it may be), it cannot be relied upon.  


�  As found above, it is the practice and custom of PSCo’s investigators not to enter residences during energy diversion investigations.  


�  If Public Service deems this requirement too onerous or too dangerous for its investigators, there are procedures available whereby PSCo can seek to change this tariff requirement.  Until the tariff is changed, however, PSCo must comply with its terms.  


�  Based on his experience at the house, Frederick Herr estimated use at $5 to10 per month during the unmetered period.  


�  Ms. Schirrmeister was the owner of the property (at least for purposes of this proceeding) as of August 11, 1998.  Frederick Herr resided elsewhere until February 2001.  Adrian Herr was responsible for overseeing the construction.  


�  As discussed above, the ALJ does not rely on this finding in resolving this case.  The reasonableness of the method used to estimate diverted energy is an issue only if PSCo can use an estimation.  Because the PSCo investigator chose not to enter the premises, Public Service cannot use an estimation of diverted energy.  


�  The inputs are:  estimated date the diversion began; estimated rate of energy diversion, calculated based on the June 29, 2001, amperage readings and an assumption that these readings are constant 7 days a week, 24 hours a day; metered usage from September 14, 2001, through October 14, 2001; and date energy diversion ended.  


�  Mr. Jones visited the premises on September 9, 2000; and Mr. Johnson visited the premises on March 13, 2001, and June 29, 2001.  At any of these times, the PSCo employee could have had access to the house or, at least, looked in a window to ascertain, e.g., whether the house was inhabited and what electric appliances were present and in use.  


�  Although Public Service could not support its estimated charges of $2,591.07, there is evidence in the record from which charges for the diverted energy might be estimated.  For example, one could use October 1, 2000, as the starting date for the electric energy diversion; use June 29, 2001 (the date the meter was set), as the ending date of the diversion; and use Frederick Herr’s estimate of average electric energy used ($5 to $10 per month) (Exhibit No. 23, page 2).  
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